
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
 
AMERICA FIRST LEGAL FOUNDATION, 
611 Pennsylvania Ave., S.E. #231 
Washington, D.C. 20003 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

 v. 
 
HENRY J. KERNER, in his official 
capacity, 
The Office of Special Counsel  
1730 M Street NW 
Washington, DC 20036 

 
Defendant. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
Case No. 1:22-cv-3576 

 

COMPLAINT 

1. This is a case to compel the defendant to carry out his statutory duty 

under 5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(3) and investigate the U.S. Department of Justice’s arbitrary 

and capricious withholding of information in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 552. 

PARTIES 

2. AFL is a nonprofit organization working to promote the rule of law in 

the United States, prevent executive overreach, ensure due process and equal 

protection for all Americans, and encourage public knowledge and understanding of 

the law and individual rights guaranteed under the United States Constitution and 

the laws of the United States. AFL’s mission includes promoting government 

transparency and accountability by gathering official information, analyzing it, and 
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disseminating it through reports, press releases, and/or other media, including social 

media platforms, all to educate the public.  

3. Defendant Henry J. Kerner is Special Counsel. Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 

1211(a), he is the head of the U.S. Office of Special Counsel. He is sued in his official 

capacity. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 28 U.S.C. § 1651. 

and 5 U.S.C. § 704.  

5. Alternatively, it has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1361, granting the 

Court “original jurisdiction of any action in the nature of mandamus to compel an 

officer or employee of the United States or any agency thereof to perform a duty 

owned to the plaintiff.”  

6. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2). 

7. Declaratory and injunctive relief are authorized by 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 

and 2202. 

FACTS 

8. On April 6, 2022, AFL filed a Freedom of Information Act request with 

the U.S. Department of Justice Civil Division seeking records between any Civil 

Division employee and one email address of a non-government individual. 

9. The Civil Division refused to conduct a search for responsive records 

without specific custodian email addresses, stating, “[w]e would have to reach out and 

receive permission from each custodian in order to search his/her emails.” Exhibit 1. 
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10. The Civil Division subsequently averred that it had an unwritten policy 

to require a custodian’s permission to perform a search in response to a lawful FOIA 

request. Id.  

11. Believing the U.S. Department of Justice policy arbitrarily and 

capriciously violated 5 U.S.C. § 552, AFL wrote to the defendant on August 17, 2022, 

requesting an investigation in compliance with 5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(3). Exhibit 2. 

12. On September 1, 2022, the Office of Special Counsel declined to 

investigate and closed the matter, asserting that its authority begins only upon the 

finding by a court, after ordering the production of agency records improperly 

withheld, that agency personnel acted arbitrarily or capriciously. Exhibit 3. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Administrative Procedure Act—5 U.S.C. § 706) 

 
13. Plaintiff repeats paragraphs 1–12. 

14. The Office of Special Counsel is an “authority of the Government of the 

United States” under 5 U.S.C. § 701(b)(1). 

15. Its refusal to investigate AFL’s allegations regarding the U.S. 

Department of Justice’s arbitrary or capricious withholding of information prohibited 

under section 552 is “agency action” (i.e., a “failure to act”) under 5 U.S.C. § 551(13).  

16. 5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(3) provides, in relevant part, that “the Special 

Counsel shall conduct an investigation of any allegation concerning … arbitrary or 

capricious withholding of information prohibited under section 552” (emphasis 

added). 
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17. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(F)(i) requires the defendant to investigate the 

circumstances of an agency’s withholding of information after a finding by a court 

that such withholding was arbitrary and capricious and in violation of the Freedom 

of Information Act.  

18. However, this section does not modify or diminish the defendant’s 

obligations under § 1216. The defendant’s obligations under § 552 are triggered by a 

court order. His obligations under § 1216 are triggered by “any allegation” of an 

arbitrary or capricious withholding of information prohibited under section 552. The 

statutes are complementary. 

19. Congress, through 5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(3), imposed a non-discretionary 

duty on the defendant to investigate AFL’s allegations.  

20. The defendant’s refusal to investigate AFL’s allegations despite this 

explicit Congressional command is ultra vires and a violation of the separation of 

powers. 

21. The defendant’s duty to investigate AFL’s allegations is not 

discretionary; it is an action the defendant is required to take. 

22. Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706(1), this Court should compel the defendant 

to investigate AFL’s allegations, which investigation was unlawfully withheld.  

23. Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §§ 706(2)(A)–(C), this Court should hold unlawful 

and set aside the challenged action—specifically, the defendant’s decision not to 

investigate AFL’s allegations—as arbitrary, capricious, contrary to the defendant’s 

constitutional power, not in accordance with law, and short of his statutory right.  

Case 1:22-cv-03576   Document 1   Filed 11/25/22   Page 4 of 6



5 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Mandamus Act—28 U.S.C. § 1361) 

 
24. Plaintiff repeats paragraphs 1–23.  

25. The Mandamus Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1361, states that this Court has 

“original jurisdiction of any action in the nature of mandamus to compel an officer or 

employee of the United States or any agency thereof to perform a duty owed to the 

plaintiff.”  

26. The defendant had a clear duty to investigate AFL’s allegations under 5 

U.S.C. § 1216(a)(3).  

27. He refused to do so. 

28. AFL does not have any alternative remedy. 

29. A writ of mandamus compelling the defendant to comply to open an 

investigation of AFL’s allegations regarding the U.S. Department of Justice should 

therefore issue. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court issue judgment 

in its favor and against Defendant and issue the following relief: 

A. A declaratory judgment that the plaintiff has a non-discretionary duty 

under 5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(3) to investigate AFL’s allegations. 

B. A writ of mandamus requiring the defendant to investigate AFL’s 

allegations. 

C. Such other relief as this Court deems just.  

 

Case 1:22-cv-03576   Document 1   Filed 11/25/22   Page 5 of 6



6 

Dated:  November 25, 2022 
 

Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
/s/ Andrew J. Block 
Reed D. Rubinstein 
D.C. Bar No. 400153  
Andrew J. Block  
D.C. Bar No. 90002845 
AMERICA FIRST LEGAL FOUNDATION  
611 Pennsylvania Ave., S.E. #231 
Washington, D.C. 20003 
Counsel for Plaintiff 
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standpoint, in order to search the whole Civil Division, you would have to input every employee's email into
the custodian field of the search. 

 

Secondarily, I understand that the Civil Division has a policy of not conducting a FOIA search on employee's
emails without first getting their permission or consent, or in the alternative asking them to conduct the
search of their own inbox. You stated that in order to do the search as requested, the Civil Division FOIA
office would have to get the consent of all employees to be searched. My understanding, based on our
conversation, is that this is a Civil Division policy adopted as a common courtesy for employees to protect
their private information. 

 

Thirdly, I asked about the "unusual circumstances" determination. I asked if we were somehow able to
identify even 20 of the "correct" custodians who had communications, could this be a simple request
processed in the normal course. The short answer was no, it cannot be, because assuming there are
records, the Civil Division's FOIA office would still have to contact the custodians, perform the search (or
have the custodian do so), compile the records, and review them for responsiveness and redactions. My
understanding is that, short of there being no responsive records, there is no way to obtain a determination
of anything other than "unusual circumstances" despite the request being for communications with one
specific non-governmental email address. 

 

Finally, I stated that in light of the information I've described above, we would take a couple of days internally
to figure out how we would like to proceed and follow up with you next week. 

 

Thank you again for your time and please let me know if I have incorrectly captured any portion of our
discussion, or omitted something. 

 

 

On Thu, Apr 14, 2022 at 11:01 AM  wrote:

great, thank you. I look forward to speaking with you then. 

 

On Thu, Apr 14, 2022 at 9:56 AM Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV) wrote:

Hi 

 

Yes, that’s fine.

 

Thanks,

Elizabeth

 

From:   
Sent: Thursday, April 14, 2022 9:54 AM 
To: Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV)  
Subject: Re: FW: [EXTERNAL] Re: Your Freedom of Information Act
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Good morning, Elizabeth,

 

I was wondering if you would be able to push to 2:30 today? Thanks,  

 

On Wed, Apr 13, 2022 at 1:39 PM Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV) <  wrote:

Sounds  good.  My cell is   Talk to you then.

 

Thanks,

Elizabeth

 

From: AFL FOIA   
Sent: Wednesday, April 13, 2022 1:37 PM 
To: Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV) 

 
Subject: Re: FW: [EXTERNAL] Re: Your Freedom of Information Act

 

Wonderful, how about 2pm? Is there a number that is best to reach you at? 

 from our team, copied here, will be on the line for AFL.  

 

On Wed, Apr 13, 2022 at 1:35 PM Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV) <  wrote:

Hi,

 

Yes, I have anything between 1pm-4pm.

 

Thanks,

Elizabeth

 

From: AFL FOIA   
Sent: Wednesday, April 13, 2022 1:33 PM 
To: Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV)  
Subject: Re: FW: [EXTERNAL] Re: Your Freedom of Information Act

 

Hi Elizabeth,

 

Do you have any time tomorrow afternoon? 

 

On Wed, Apr 13, 2022 at 10:12 AM Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV) 
wrote:

Good morning ,
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Best,

 

Stephanie B. Logan

Supervisory Government Information Specialist

FOIA and Privacy Office

Civil Division

United States Department of Justice

--

 

 

 

 

 

 

-

 

 

 

 

 

--
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611 Pennsylvania Ave SE #231 
Washington, DC 20003 

 
August 17, 2022 
 
Honorable Henry J. Kerner 
U.S. Office of Special Counsel 
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 218 
Washington, D.C., 20036-4505 
 
Dear Special Counsel Kerner: 
 
America First Legal Foundation (“AFL”) is a national, nonprofit organization. AFL 
works to promote the rule of law in the United States, prevent executive overreach, 
ensure due process and equal protection for all Americans, and promote knowledge 
and understanding of the law and individual rights guaranteed under the Constitu-
tion and laws of the United States. Our mission includes promoting government 
transparency and accountability by gathering official information, analyzing it, and 
disseminating it through reports, press releases, and media, including social media 
platforms, to educate the public and to keep government officials accountable for their 
duty to faithfully execute, protect, and defend the Constitution and laws of the United 
States. 
 

I. The U.S. Department of Justice Civil Divion’s Policy and Practice 
of Obtaining Permission from Agency Employees Before Searching 
Their Official Records Evades Compliance with the Freedom of In-
formation Act.  

 
The U.S. Department of Justice has on several occasions within the last several 
months informed AFL of its need to obtain employee permission to search individual 
email accounts.1 To illustrate this policy, Stephanie Logan, a supervisory government 
information specialist at DOJ, wrote to AFL that, “[w]e would have to reach out and 
receive permission from each custodian in order to search his/her emails.”2 When AFL 
asked Elizabeth Wood, the Acting Chief of FOIA and Privacy at the Civil Division of 
DOJ, whether the “policy of getting consent from employees prior to a FOIA search 
[was] a written policy or more of a practice”, Ms. Wood replied that “[i]t is not a writ-
ten policy.”3  
 

 
1 The relevant tracking numbers of the AFL Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”) requests to the 
U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) are FOIA-2022-01054; 145-FOI-18549; and 2022-127831.  
2 E-mail from Stephanie Logan (DOJ Civil Division) to AFL (June 7, 2022), attached at Exhibits at 2.  
3 E-mail from Elizabeth A. Wood (DOJ Civil Division) to AFL (April 15, 2022), attached at Exhibits 
at 4.  
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As a practical matter, DOJ FOIA staff can administratively search all relevant em-
ployees' email accounts and then review and redact the results using Clearwell and 
Relativity, or another eDiscovery platform.4 According to the Justice Management 
Division, the “Office of the Chief Information Officer, eDiscovery Program, is respon-
sible for providing electronic discovery support for the DOJ senior leadership offices 
(Office of the Attorney General, Office of the Deputy Attorney General, and Office of 
the Associate Attorney General) and various other offices and components within the 
Department in response to Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requests, litigation, 
investigations, Congressional requests, and other related matters.”5 
 
As a practical matter, DOJ’s argument that conducting searches without the specific 
identities of custodians and those custodians’ consent “would be extremely time con-
suming and burdensome”6 is therefore unavailing. But to argue that such narrowing 
and permission is necessary in order for a FOIA requester to “reasonably describe”7 
records being sought is arbitrary, capricious, and without legal basis. The law is clear: 
“an agency responding to a FOIA request must conduct a search reasonably calcu-
lated to uncover all relevant documents.”8 If an agency places limitations on the 
searches it undertakes such a policy is arbitrary or capricious unless it comports with 
the agency’s “obligation to conduct a reasonably thorough investigation.”9 
 

II. The Special Counsel Must Investigate the U.S. Department of Jus-
tice’s Arbitrary Withholding of Information Under FOIA.  

 
The e-mail communications of government officials relating to official business are 
federal records subject to the government’s control independent of a custodian’s con-
sent to that control.10 DOJ’s policy sends the message that agency employees control 
permissions regarding the releasability of their records and therefore creates the risk 
that such employees may evade official recordkeeping systems for their government 

 
4 U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Information Policy, Processing a FOIA Request: From Start to 
Finish, (2018), https://www.justice.gov/oip/page/file/1324396/download#page=15. 
5 U.S. Department of Justice, Justice Management Division, Privacy Impact Assessment for the eDis-
covery System, (Dec. 18, 2018), https://www.justice.gov/opcl/page/file/1121536/download#page=2. 
6 E-mail from Stephanie Logan (DOJ Civil Division) to AFL (June 7, 2022), attached at Exhibits at 2.  
7 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3)(A).  
8 Truitt v. Dep't of State, 897 F.2d 540, 542 (D.C. Cir. 1990) (internal citations omitted) 
9 McGehee v. CIA, 697 F.2d 1095, 1101 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (“The Act explicitly assigns to the agency the 
burden of persuasion with regard to the closely related issue of the legitimacy of the agency's invoca-
tion of a statutory exemption to justify withholding of material. Two considerations indicate that the 
same rule should govern the issue before us. One is that the information bearing upon the reasona-
bleness of any temporal or other limitation on a search effort is within the agency's exclusive control. 
The other is that the Act as a whole is clearly written so as to favor the disclosure of any documents 
not covered by one of the enumerated exemptions. Insofar as burdens of persuasion are generally as-
signed to parties advancing disfavored contentions, the agency should bear the responsibility of 
convincing the trier of fact that its less than comprehensive search is reasonable under 
the circumstances.”) (emphasis added).  
10 Competitive Enter. Inst. v. Office of Sci. & Tech. Policy, 827 F.3d 145, 147 (D.C. Cir. 2016) (citing 
the Federal Records Act).  
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business without legal penalty. While, as a matter of law, such records would be in 
the control of the government,11 DOJ’s policy would all but guarantee their exclusion 
from lawful public access.  
 
If records cannot be searched for purposes of complying with FOIA without advance 
consent by a government custodian, then such a policy amounts to a rule that email 
records of an employee who refuses consent are outside the possession or control of 
federal agencies and thus beyond the scope of FOIA. Such a policy would enable the 
DOJ to argue that, without employee consent, the agency lacks possession or control 
of certain records. As the D.C. Circuit has concluded, while FOIA “empowers federal 
courts to compel disclosure of agency records improperly withheld” it “does not confer 
authority upon the courts to command agencies to acquire possession or control of 
records they do not already have.”12 DOJ therefore seeks to use this legal conclusion 
to advance a policy obfuscating the plain purpose behind the FOIA.  
 
In establishing your authority, Congress sought to protect against arbitrary agency 
decisions to obstruct the legislative purpose of FOIA. Under 5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(3), 
“the Special Counsel shall … conduct an investigation of any allegation concerning 
… arbitrary or capricious withholding of information prohibited under section 552”. 
This requirement is a ministerial responsibility for which you lack discretion not to 
act.13 
 
We therefore request that you immediately begin an investigation of the DOJ’s arbi-
trary and capricious withholding of information subject to FOIA through its policy of 
requiring custodian consent prior to a search of responsive records.  
 
If you have any questions about this matter, please do not hesitate to contact me at 
Reed.Rubinstein@aflegal.org.   
 

Sincerely, 
  

 
/s/ Reed D. Rubinstein  
Reed D. Rubinstein 
America First Legal Foundation 

 
Encl.: Exhibits

 
11 Id. 
12 Founding Church of Scientology of Washington, D.C., Inc. v. Regan, 670 F.2d 1158, 1163 (D.C. Cir. 
1981). 
13 Carson v. United States Office of Special Counsel, No. 3:08-CV-317, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 49983, 
at *6 (E.D. Tenn. June 9, 2009); Brief, U.S. Department of Justice (Appellee), Carson v. United 
States Office of Special Counsel, Case No. 09-5645 (6th Cir. 2009) (“the district court appropriately 
concluded that OSC performed the ministerial act required by § 1216(a)[]”). 
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standpoint, in order to search the whole Civil Division, you would have to input every employee's email into
the custodian field of the search. 

 

Secondarily, I understand that the Civil Division has a policy of not conducting a FOIA search on employee's
emails without first getting their permission or consent, or in the alternative asking them to conduct the
search of their own inbox. You stated that in order to do the search as requested, the Civil Division FOIA
office would have to get the consent of all employees to be searched. My understanding, based on our
conversation, is that this is a Civil Division policy adopted as a common courtesy for employees to protect
their private information. 

 

Thirdly, I asked about the "unusual circumstances" determination. I asked if we were somehow able to
identify even 20 of the "correct" custodians who had communications, could this be a simple request
processed in the normal course. The short answer was no, it cannot be, because assuming there are
records, the Civil Division's FOIA office would still have to contact the custodians, perform the search (or
have the custodian do so), compile the records, and review them for responsiveness and redactions. My
understanding is that, short of there being no responsive records, there is no way to obtain a determination
of anything other than "unusual circumstances" despite the request being for communications with one
specific non-governmental email address. 

 

Finally, I stated that in light of the information I've described above, we would take a couple of days internally
to figure out how we would like to proceed and follow up with you next week. 

 

Thank you again for your time and please let me know if I have incorrectly captured any portion of our
discussion, or omitted something. 

 

 

On Thu, Apr 14, 2022 at 11:01 AM  wrote:

great, thank you. I look forward to speaking with you then. 

 

On Thu, Apr 14, 2022 at 9:56 AM Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV) wrote:

Hi 

 

Yes, that’s fine.

 

Thanks,

Elizabeth

 

From:   
Sent: Thursday, April 14, 2022 9:54 AM 
To: Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV)  
Subject: Re: FW: [EXTERNAL] Re: Your Freedom of Information Act
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Good morning, Elizabeth,

 

I was wondering if you would be able to push to 2:30 today? Thanks,  

 

On Wed, Apr 13, 2022 at 1:39 PM Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV) <  wrote:

Sounds  good.  My cell is   Talk to you then.

 

Thanks,

Elizabeth

 

From: AFL FOIA   
Sent: Wednesday, April 13, 2022 1:37 PM 
To: Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV) 

 
Subject: Re: FW: [EXTERNAL] Re: Your Freedom of Information Act

 

Wonderful, how about 2pm? Is there a number that is best to reach you at? 

 from our team, copied here, will be on the line for AFL.  

 

On Wed, Apr 13, 2022 at 1:35 PM Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV) <  wrote:

Hi,

 

Yes, I have anything between 1pm-4pm.

 

Thanks,

Elizabeth

 

From: AFL FOIA   
Sent: Wednesday, April 13, 2022 1:33 PM 
To: Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV)  
Subject: Re: FW: [EXTERNAL] Re: Your Freedom of Information Act

 

Hi Elizabeth,

 

Do you have any time tomorrow afternoon? 

 

On Wed, Apr 13, 2022 at 10:12 AM Wood, Elizabeth A. (CIV) 
wrote:

Good morning ,
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Best,

 

Stephanie B. Logan

Supervisory Government Information Specialist

FOIA and Privacy Office

Civil Division

United States Department of Justice

--

 

 

 

 

 

 

-

 

 

 

 

 

--
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL 
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 218 
Washington, D.C.  20036-4505 

(202) 804-7000 
www.osc.gov 

 
 
 

Dallas, TX Field Office 
P.O. Box 793771 
Dallas, TX  75379 

Telephone: (214) 974-7075 

Detroit, MI Field Office 
P.O. Box 760395 

Lathrup Village, MI  48076 
Telephone: (313) 335-8085 

San Francisco, CA Field Office 
P.O. Box 170023 

San Francisco, CA  94117 
Telephone: (510) 598-2065 

 

September 1, 2022 
 
Reed D. Rubinstein 
c/o America First Legal Foundation 
611 Pennsylvania Avenue SE #231 
Washington, D.C., 20003 
 

Re: OSC File No. MA-22-002104 

Dear Mr. Rubinstein, 

This letter responds to the complaint you filed with the U.S. Office of Special Counsel 
(OSC) alleging that officials at the Department of Justice, Civil Division’s Policy and Practice, 
(DOJ)  engaged in activity prohibited  by 5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(3).  We understand that preparing a 
complaint represents a significant amount of work and we thank you for your assistance. We have 
reviewed your complaint in light of the legal elements required to prove your allegation and have 
concluded that we are, by statute  unable to investigate this matter. 
  

In your complaint, you alleged that DOJ officials are engaging in the practice of obtaining 
custodian employee consent to search individual email accounts prior to searching official records 
in response to Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requests. You argue that placing such 
limitations on searches amounts to an arbitrary and capricious withholding of information. 

 
 OSC is authorized to investigate allegations of arbitrary and capricious withholding of 

information prohibited under the FOIA.1  However, before the Special Counsel can exercise this 
authority, there must be final agency action on the FOIA request and an appeal to the federal district 
court.  The FOIA lays out three conditions that must be met before a case falls under the Special 
Counsel’s jurisdiction in section 1216: (1) the court ordered the production of improperly held 
agency records; (2) the court assessed attorney fees and litigation costs against the United States; 
and (3) the court issued a written finding that the circumstances surrounding the agency’s 
withholding raised questions whether the agency personnel responsible for the withholding acted  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 5 U.S.C. § 1216(a)(3). 
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Dallas, TX Field Office 
P.O. Box 793771 
Dallas, TX  75379 

Telephone:  (214) 974-7075 

Detroit, MI Field Office 
P.O. Box 760395 

Lathrup Village, MI  48076 
Telephone: (313) 335-8085 

San Francisco, CA Field Office 
P.O. Box 170023 

San Francisco, CA  94117 
Telephone: (510) 598-2065 

 

arbitrarily or capriciously.2  Unfortunately, your complaint does not allege that any of the 
prerequisites have been met.  Consequently, we are unable to take further action on your complaint 
at this time. 

 
  Thank you for bringing these allegations to OSC’s attention. 
 

Sincerely,    
     

  
        Barbara Wheeler Jones 
        Chief, Case Review Division 

 
 

 
 
         

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2 See 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(F).   
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